In the Supreme Court of the State of Nevada

| IN THE MATTER OF THE CHRISTIAN FAMILY TRUST u.a.d. 10/11/16 |)) | Electronically Filed | |
|--|---------------|--|--|
| SUSAN CHRISTIAN-PAYNE, ROSEMARY KEACH AND |))) | Jan 09 2019 03:02 p.m Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Cour | |
| RAYMOND CHRISTIAN, JR. Appellants, -vs- ANTHONY L. BARNEY, LTD. and JACQUELINE UTKIN, Respondents. | Case No.:)) | 75750 | |
| ANTHONY L. BARNEY, LTD., Cross-Appellant, -vs- SUSAN CHRISTIAN-PAYNE, ROSEMARY KEACH AND RAYMOND CHRISTIAN, JR. Cross-Respondents, and JACQUELINE UTKIN, Respondent. | | | |
| |) | | |

APPELLANT/CROSS-RESPONDENTS' OPENING BRIEF

Filed by:

CARY COLT PAYNE, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 4357

I. Jurisdictional Statement

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter as it is an appeal from an

order of the District Court pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(3), NRS 155.190 (e),(h), (j), (n).

II. Routing Statement

Appellants respectfully submit that this appeal is appropriate for

resolution/decision in the Court of Appeals, pursuant to NRAP 17(B)(15): Cases

involving trust and estate matters in which the corpus has a value of less than

\$5,430,000;

III. Statement of the Issues for Review

(1) Whether the District Court erred in allowing a non party law firm file their

own independent petition for fees/costs and paid from a dead client's discretional

spendthrift trust.

(2) Whether the District Court erred in allowing the alleged successor trustees

pre-authorization of payment of attorneys fees/costs from a discretionary/spendthrift

trust.

IV. Statement of Interested Parties

Appellants: Susan Christian Payne, Rosemary Keach, Raymond Christian, Jr.,

Children of the Settlors Raymond Christian, Sr. and Nancy Christian; original co-trustees and parties to The Christian

Family Trust (u.a.d. 10/11/16)

Respondents: Anthony L. Barney, Ltd. (creditor)

(hereinafter "Respondent", "Respondent Barney firm")

1

Other parties: Monte Reason, half brother to Appellants,

beneficiary (#1 below), alleged successor trustee;

resigned and nominated Jacqueline Utkin

Jacqueline Utkin, successor trustee, removed for conflicts

Trust: The Christian Family Trust (u.a.d. 10/11/16)

Settlors/Trustors: Raymond Christian, Sr. and Nancy Christian

Raymond Christian, Sr. (died 1/31/17) Nancy Christian (died 12/14/17)

Original Trustees: Susan G. Christian-Payne,

Rosemary Keach and Raymond Christian, Jr.

Income Beneficiary: Nancy Christian (pursuant to CFT ¶4.3(a):

"During the lifetime of the Survivor, the Trustee, in the Trustee's sole discretion, may pay to the Survivor all of the net income of the Trust estate, as the Trustee may determine necessary, in the Trustee's sole discretion, for the health, education, support and maintenance of the Survivor."

Beneficiaries of Trust Res:

(1) as to the proceeds of the sale of the Dancing Vines property (\$194,704.59), see Trust &6.1 (a)-(g):

Rosemary Keach (20%=\$38,940.92), outright, free of trust; Raymond T. Christian, Jr. (20%=\$38,940.92) outright, free of trust; Tommy L. Christian (20%=\$38,940.92) outright, free of trust; Susan G. Christian-Payne (20%=\$38,940.92) outright, free of trust; Christopher A. Christian (10% = \$19,470.45) outright, free of trust;

Monte B. Reason (10%=\$19,470.45), and this Trust share shall be held, in Trust and distributed to him in the sole discretion of SUSAN G.CHRISTIAN-PAYNE for his health, education, maintenance and support.

(2) The <u>rest, residue and remainder</u> of the Trust Estate, including all cash (\$234,134.34) and the real properties located at 2848 Bluff Point Drive, Las Vegas, Nevada and 37920 Grandview Ave., Yermo, California, see Trust &6.2:

Rosemary Keach (one third-33%) outright, free of trust; Raymond T. Christian, Jr. (one third-33%) outright, free of trust; Susan G. Christian-Payne (one third-33%) outright, free of trust;

V. Statement of the Case and Procedural History

On October 11, 2016, Raymond Christian, Sr., and Nancy Christian (collectively as "Trustors", or individually as "Ray Sr." and "Nancy"), created The Christian Family Trust ("CFT"). (APP-ROA-V1-032-062) The Trustors were not the trustees of the CFT. Their children, Appellants, Susan Christian-Payne, Rosemary Keach and Raymond Christian, Jr., were the original co-trustees. ("Appellants")

Nancy and Ray, Sr. were married in the 1960's, became divorced, had other marriages and children, and remarried in 2009.

In 2016, Ray, Sr., became ill and thereafter bedridden; it was agreed that Nancy and Ray, Sr. relocate to a residence nearer to their children. The decision was made to sell the Dancing Vines property and purchase the Bluffpoint property (both in Las Vegas, Nevada). (APP-ROA-V1-002-003)

This was not a traditional family non-testamentary (estate plan) trust between husband and wife. The Trust was created, in part, to protect Nancy from her son and her creditors. Nancy was known to unwisely spend money and if left unchecked, would run out of money. (APP-ROA-V1-002)

The CFT contained a restraint on alienation clause (¶14.2) making the CFT a spendthrift trust. (APP-ROA-V1-056) The CFT also provided for the sole discretion of the co-trustees making the CFT a discretionary trust. (APP-ROA-V1-038)

Ray Sr. funded the CFT solely with his property. Other than the Dancing Vines real property, which was in the process of being sold, all "cash" funding of the CFT came from the separate property assets of Ray, Sr.

The Appellants, as co-trustees, commenced to administer the CFT, with input from their father. Raymond Christian, Sr. was diagnosed with terminal conditions and died (three months later) on January 31, 2017.

Upon the death of Ray Sr., Nancy immediately demanded the Appellants (as cotrustees of the CFT) provide her with \$5,000 per month. Nancy had her own home, monies and sufficient income of more than \$2,100 at that time. (APP-ROA-V1-003) Nancy hired Respondent Barney for representation against the trust/children.

The Appellants (then trustees) exercised their fiduciary duty to inquire in order for them to determine what was necessary and to what level their sole discretion was to be utilized under the trust. The trust had little or no "net income", as there was only a small rental income, offset by a mortgage, etc., from real property in California. (APPROA-V1-004) Any payments would have been from trust principal. When their fiduciary due diligence inquiry was made by the then trustees as to the reasons why Nancy insisted on such sums, or to provide backup documentation for her request, no response was ever received from Nancy. (APP-ROA-V1-004)

Rather than deal with the actual issue of any trust income or Nancy's needs, she Christian hired the lawfirm of Anthony Barney, Ltd. On June 12, 2017, (after the death of her husband) she signed documents which attempted to remove the existing co-trustees and nominating her son, Monte Reason as sole successor trustee. (APP-ROA-V1-067-068)

Monte Reason was not the biological son of Ray, Sr. Monte had a long history of criminal activities, arrests, etc. (APP-ROA-V1-013-026) Ray Sr. had long been

concerned with Monte's ability to influence his mother. Neither Nancy, during her lifetime, or Monte Reason as the alleged successor trustee, ever brought forward any further request or any petition to the court for a budget, request, or the monthly stipend. No Petition to confirm Monte as Trustee was ever sought.

On July 31, 2017, Appellants filed their Petition for Jurisdiction of the Trust, confirm original trustees and for Instructions (APP-ROA-V1-001) pursuant to NRS 153, 163, 164. The petition sought, inter alia, instructions in dealing with certain administrative portions of the terms of the trust and Appellants purported removal. Nancy moved to Dismiss (NRCP 12(b)(1)) (APP-ROA-V1-073), which was opposed by the Appellants. (APP-ROA-V1-106). Monte Reason filed his Response to the Petition to Assume Jurisdiction. (APP-ROA-V2-157) Nancy Christian and Monte Reason thereafter filed a Joint Objection to the Petition to Assume Jurisdiction, etc. (APP-ROA-V4a &4b-223-373)

The matter was transferred to the Honorable Judge Vincent Ochoa, Dept. S, sitting as the Probate Court Judge, who issued his Decision and Order (APP-ROA-V2-185) The District Court found that Appellants were interested persons as defined in NRS 132.185 and have standing to pursue the petition and found/ordered, inter alia that:

Susan Christian-Payne, Rosemary Keach, and Raymond Christian (hereinafter "Petitioners") were the original individuals named co-trustees and accepted the Trusteeship of the Trust at the time of its initial execution in October 2016. The names of the four (4) now living children from the Grantors' marriage are Rosemary Christian-Keach, Raymond T. Christian, Jr., Tommy L. Christian, and Susan Christian-Payne.

About a month after Raymond died and after the property closed, Nancy Christian sought to be paid an additional \$5,000 per month from the trust.

The Trust provides at Article 4.3(a) that: "the Trustee, in Trustees' sole discretion may pay to the Survivor all of the net Income of the Trust estate, as the Trustee may determine necessary. In the Trustee's sole discretion for the health, education and maintenance of the survivor ... "

Nancy was informed as to the trust terms and net income payments by correspondence dated June 3, 2017. Within 10 days thereafter, Nancy, executed documents to remove Petitioners as co-trustees and appoint Monte Reason.

Petitioners allege that the trust was not intended to be revocable as to the trustees and that Article 9.3 contained at least one scrivener's or other similar type of error.

Monte Reason, the successor trustee, is Nancy's child from a previous marriage. Monte Reason has past child support arrears and criminal issues including drug issues. His share was to be ten percent of the trust and was to be held in a trust to be distributed in the sole discretion of the trustee Susan G. Christian-Payne. See Trust Sec. 6.1 (f) and (g). Petitioners were to each receive twenty percent of the proceeds from the sale of the home outright and free of trust. See Trust Sec. 6.1 In addition, Petitioners were to receive each one third of any remaining property. See Sec.6.2

Here, Petitioners were co-trustees of the trust and had fiduciary responsibility to protect the interests of Nancy and the assets of the Christian family trust. They had sole discretionary power of the assets of the trust and allege that they were removed as trustees for exercising this discretion. Petitioners further allege that appointment of Monte Reason as trustee will result in abuse or misuse of trust assets.

In the minutes from the March 15, 2018 hearing, the district court ordered that no attorneys fees be awarded until the final decision on whether Monte Reason could be a trustee. (APP-ROA-V10-895) Appellants objected to the right of Nancy Christian's ability to remove the original signatories to the trust agreement, and the issue of replacing them with Monte Reason. This issue has not been decided by the district court.

Discovery commenced and litigation continued including Accounting (APP-ROA-V2- 166), Inventory (APP-ROA-V2-174), etc. Prior to much being decided, Nancy Christian died December 14, 2017. The provision in the CFT providing her lifetime income lapsed. (CFT-Art. 2, ¶2.4- APP-ROA-V1-038)

Monte resigned as trustee of the CFT, and nominated Jacqueline Utkin. (APP-ROA-V7b-560)

After Nancy's death, the Respondent (Barney firm), in that sole (individual and/or corporate) capacity, filed its own Petition for Attorney's Fees and Costs. (APP-ROA-V8-577) The basis for relief was "pursuant to the terms of the trust" (at page 1). The Petition relied extensively on the pre-approval of the "successor trustees", and their "lack" of opposition. The petition was not verified (NRS 132.160). It sought in excess of \$62,105.64 in attorney fees, and costs in the amount of \$3,031.97 to be paid from the Trust principal.

The Appellants opposed the petition for multiple reasons. (APP-ROA-V9-742) The matter proceeded to hearing on April 4, 2018. (APP-ROA-V13a-V13d) The District Court awarded the amount of \$50,000 in attorney's fees, plus costs of \$3,031.97 to be paid from the Trust. Notice of Entry (APP-ROA-V15-1225) of the order was filed, and this appeal followed.

VI. Summary of the Arguments

The CFT, was a discretionary/spendthrift trust. Such trusts do not permit for the payment of Nancy Christian's, a contestant) of her creditors before or after her death. It also does not provide the District Court the jurisdiction or authority for either the consideration of, or application for, or the payment of her creditors. The Barney firm

(admitted) it was a creditor of Nancy Christian; therefore it was a creditor of her personal estate. Respondent Barney firm does not have standing to bring any kind of Petition for Fees for payment of fees from the CFT. Nevada law dictates a creditor to file a claim in an estate as proscribed under NRS Chapter 147. NRS 163.417 also states the creditor shall not and a court cannot order payments to creditors.

The payment of the attorney fees/costs damaged the Trust and the beneficiaries.

That the record indicates the District Court lacked any sort of consideration of either the <u>Brunzell</u> or <u>Beattie</u> factors.

VII. Legal Argument and Authorities

A. Standard of Review

In *Logan v. Abe*, 131 Nev. Adv. Op. 31350 P.3d 1139, (Nev., 2015) the Nevada Supreme Court held: A district court abuses its discretion when it commits "[a] clearly erroneous interpretation of the law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." *State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court*, 127 Nev. 927, 932, 267 P.3d 777, 780 (2011) (quoting *Steward v. McDonald*, 958 S.W.2d 297, 300 (Ark. 1997)). An award of attorney fees is fact intensive, therefore, this Court will affirm an award of attorney fees if it is based upon substantial evidence. See *Logan*, 131 Nev., Adv. Op. 31, 350 P.3d at 1143. When the attorney fees matter implicates questions of law, however, the proper review is de novo. *In re Estate & Living Tr. of Miller*, 125 Nev. 550, 552-53, 216 P.3d 239, 241 (2009).

In a probate matter, the Supreme Court will "defer to a district court's findings of fact and will only disturb them if they are not supported by substantial evidence.

Waldman v. Maini, 124 Nev. 1121, 1129, 195 P.2d 850, 856 (2008). "Substantial evidence is evidence that a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion". *In re Estate of Bethurem*, 129 Nev. 869, 876, 313 P.3d 237, 242 (2013) (quoting *Winchell v. Schiff**, 124 Nev. 938, 044, 193 P.3d 946, 950 (2008)) Legal questions, including matters of statutory interpretation are reviewed de novo. *Waldman*, 124 Nev. at 1129, 195 P.3d at 856.

B. Specific Arguments

(1) Respondent Barney did not have standing to file any kind of independent petition for attorney fees/costs.

The District Court erred in permitting a creditor of a decedent to petition to seek payment of their attorneys fees from the trust. It also erred by not following the probate process proscribed by Nevada law. (NRS Chapter 147)

Respondent Barney has no privity to the CFT, is not a beneficiary of the CFT, there was no beneficial result to the CFT, and while Respondent Barney arguably is a creditor of Nancy, her beneficial interest died with her. Barney is not a creditor of the CFT as it did not perform services for the CFT. Barney is not a real party in interest.

The only individuals/entity who could oppose the instant appeal would be the current trustee of the CFT as real party in interest or the CFT beneficiaries.

Nevada law and case precedent has consistently provided that a creditor must go through the creditor's process outlined in NRS Chapter 147. *In Re Dickersons Estate*, 51 Nev. 69, 268 P. 769 (1928); *In the Matter of Jane Tiffany Living Trust*, 177 P.3d 1060 (Nev., 2008)

Respondent relied on the back of Utkin (second trustee) as the legal basis for "...claim accepted by the trustee", pursuant to NRS 132.390(c)(8). Utkin was removed as trustee due to her conflicts and negative attitude towards Appellants. (APP-ROA-V17-1402 & 1409) Respondent sought and received written approval prior to filing the Petition. (APP-ROA-V8-610 & 612) Despite the District Court's order, NRS 132.390(c)(8) was never cited as a basis in the Petition for Attorney's Fees and Costs. (APP-ROA-V8-577)

Respondent did not purport to have a legal theory for an award of fees/costs. Respondent argued in his Petition for Attorney's Fees. (APP-ROA-V8-586), at page 10, line 19: "ALB, Ltd.'s creditor claim is valid against the trust", without substantiating how or why. Respondent further alleged that "ALB, Ltd. has a creditor claim against the trust for what it seeks to be paid".

(2) The Christian Family Trust qualified as a Nevada spendthrift/discretionary trust.

The CFT was a discretionary Nevada trust as proscribed by NRS 163.4185(1)(c), and contained spendthrift provisions (NRS 166.040). (CFT ¶14.1, 14.2 -APP-ROA-V1-056) Pursuant to the Christian Family Trust, Nancy's interest was

only for the duration of her lifetime (life estate) for Nancy's health, education, support and maintenance (HEMP), etc. (APP-ROA-V1-038)

Nancy Christian had a mere beneficial right to "income" under the CFT, subject to the absolute discretion of the then Co-Trustees (Appellants). The CFT (APP-ROA-V1-032-062) gave the Appellants' complete, ultimate sole discretion. The Trust provides at Article 4, ¶4.3(a) that: "the Trustee, in Trustees' sole discretion may pay to the Survivor all of the net income of the Trust estate, as the Trustee may determine necessary, in the Trustee's sole discretion for the health, education and maintenance of the survivor...". [Emphasis added]

A discretionary interest exists under Nevada law, if the trustee has discretion to determine whether a distribution should be made and when. In Nevada, the beneficiary of a discretionary trust does not have an enforceable right to a distribution; thus, the beneficiary does not have a property interest that can be reached by a creditor. (NRS 163.4185(1)(c)) Further, a beneficiary who only has a discretionary interest in a trust, does not have an enforceable right to distribution from the trust, and a trustee given "sole" discretion does not have to act reasonably. (NRS 163.419(2))

While Nancy was living, she was only an income beneficiary. Nancy had no rights under the trust to transfer any assets. Respondent Barney firm was, at best, her personal attorney and a self-styled creditor of Nancy. Once Nancy died, her beneficial interest lapsed.

Respondent Barney was neither a party to the action, trustee, or beneficiary, and therefore is not a real party in interest of the Christian Family Trust (NRCP 17). As

Nancy's personal attorney, Respondent Barney firm had no other rights, and does not have standing to bring an independent Petition for their fees as a creditor against the CFT, a discretionary/spendthrift trust. In law, standing or *locus standi* is the term for the ability of a party to demonstrate to the court sufficient connection to and harm from the law or action challenged to support that party's participation in the case.

The Nevada Supreme Court, in *Klebacka v. Nelson*, 133 Nev., Adv. Op. 24 (2017), clearly affirmed, by unanimous decision, the existence of such trusts being absolute protection against creditors. There are no exceptions for creditors even as to those such as alimony or child support, which are inapplicable in this matter. Nevada has NO statutory exception creditors. The decision also noted that no specific language necessary to create a spendthrift trust, and that one must first look to the words of the trust agreement to determine if the settlor had the intent to create a spendthrift trust. All of these were affirmed resoundingly in *In re Frei Irrevocable Trust*, 133 Adv. Op. 8 (2017)

The CFT contains such language at Paragraphs 14.2 (APP-ROA-V1-056), specifically prohibits the Barney firm, as a creditor of Nancy Christian, from being paid from trust assets, which states:

14.2 Spendthrift Provision. No interest in the principal or income of any trust created under this Trust Instrument shall be anticipated, assigned, encumbered or subjected to creditors' claims or legal process before actual receipt by a beneficiary. This provision shall not apply to a Trustor's interest in the Trust estate. The income and principal of this Trust shall be paid over to the beneficiary at the time and in the manner provided by the terms of this Trust, and not upon any written or oral order, nor upon any assignment or transfer by the beneficiary, nor by operation of law. [Emphasis added]

It is submitted that given the terms of the CFT, it is both a discretionary trust and a spendthrift trust pursuant to Nevada Law.

As a discretionary (NRS 163.5559(1)) and spendthrift trust, the CFT (CFT ¶14.1, 14.2 & NRS 166.040, NRS 111.779(12)(A)(6)) (APP-ROA-V1-032-062) was not responsible to pay for Nancy's lawyers, which are her personal debts. Respondent stated in the Petition for Attorneys Fees and Costs (at page 2): "In February 2017, Nancy Christian came to the law offices of Anthony L. Barney, Ltd., regarding some issues she was having with her children."

When Nancy died, her interests in the CFT were divested. Nevada law forbids the payment to Nancy's creditors. NRS 163.417 states the creditor shall not and a court cannot order payment to creditors. This is also confirmed in NRS 111.779(12)(a)(6) in that a creditor has no claim against a spendthrift trust.

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