25

26

27

28

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE CHRISTIAN FAMILY TRUST U/A/D 10/11/16

SUSAN CHRISTIAN-PAYNE, ROSEMARY KEACH, AND RAYMOND CHRISTIAN, JR.,

Appellants,

VS.

ANTHONY L. BARNEY, LTD.,

Respondent.

Case No.: 75750

Electronically Filed Nov 06 2019 02:34 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

ANSWERING BRIEF

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

On June 21, 2017, Nancy notified Appellants of Reason's appointment and to safeguard the CFT assets until the Certificate of Incumbency ("Certificate") was provided to them.⁶¹ On June 27, 2017, Reason provided the Appellants with a Certificate of his appointment⁶² and attempted to gain control over the CFT bank account to avoid further conversion by the Appellants, but he was too late. Three days later, on June 30, 2017, the Appellants had removed \$267,902.53 from the CFT bank account despite prior notice of their lack of authority to act on behalf of the CFT.⁶³ The Appellants refused at that time to return the funds to the CFT.

⁵⁶ RESAPP II: 000163, lines 3-4; RESAPP II: 000219 - 000220.

^{23 || 57} RESAPP II: 000163, lines 4-7.

⁵⁸ RESAPP II: 000163, lines 7-9; RESAPP II: 000222.

⁵⁹ RESAPP II: 000163, lines 9-10; RESAPP II: 000224 - 000228.

⁶⁰ RESAPP IV: 000711 - 000713. Note this Order was the last order dealing with the validity of the appointment of a Successor Trustee of which ALB Ltd. was provided notice either by the Appellants or by the Court.

⁶¹ RESAPP II: 000163, lines 12-14; RESAPP II: 000230.

⁶² RESAPP II: 000163, lines 15-16; RESAPP II: 000232 - 000233.

⁶³ RESAPP II: 000163, lines 18-20; RESAPP II: 000235 - 000237.

11 12

13 14

15 16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24

25

26

27

28

Nancy also wanted to obtain a new residence similar to the BP. Because Raymond Jr. refused to leave the BP peaceably, Nancy forcefully evicted him.⁶⁴ Approximately one week later, after the court hearing on the eviction, Nancy passed away on December 14, 2017.65 Nancy died with pending petitions before the EJDC and, thus, the substitution of Nancy's estate occurred to prosecute her claims against the Appellants.⁶⁶ Nancy owed ALB, Ltd. for outstanding legal fees and costs, which Reason approved on January 4, 2018.⁶⁷

Because of Wells Fargo Bank's declination to serve upon Reason's resignation as successor trustee, he nominated Raymond Sr.'s sister, Utkin, as Trustee of the CFT, 68 who approved the payment to ALB, Ltd. for Nancy's debt. 69 On February 8, 2018, at the EJDC's direction, ALB, Ltd., filed a petition to the EJDC setting forth its reasons for releasing funds from the frozen account to satisfy Nancy's debt and related creditor's claim. The Court released only a partial amount of the CFT assets to pay ALB, Ltd.; ⁷¹ after which, this appeal arose.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT – ANSWERING BRIEF

⁶⁴ *Id*.

⁶⁵ RESAPP II: 000315.

⁶⁶ RESAPP II: 000330 - 000331.

⁶⁷ RESAPP III: 000506.

⁶⁸ RESAPP III: 000324 - 000325, 000452 - 000453.

⁶⁹ RESAPP III: 000508 - 000511.

⁷⁰ RESAPP III: 000473 - 000555.

The terms of the CFT provide that, "The Trustees shall not be liable for any loss or injury to the property at any time held by them hereunder, except only such as may result from their fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence. Every election, determination, or other exercise by Trustees of any discretion vested, either expressly or by implication, in them, pursuant to this Trust Agreement, whether made upon a question actually raised or implied in their acts and proceedings, *shall be conclusive an binding upon all parties in interest.*" Neither Appellants nor Waid have made any claims against the discretion exercised by Reason or Utkin as product of fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence, and therefore the Trustees discretion is binding upon them.

The CFT further provides that, "No person dealing with the Trustees shall be obligated to see to the application of any property paid or delivered to them or to inquire into the expediency or propriety of any transaction or the authority of the Trustees to enter into and consummate the same upon such terms as they may deem advisable." ALB, Ltd. did not have an obligation to see that any CFT property paid to them was properly within the authority of the Trustees to be paid

⁷¹ RESAPP IV: 000745 - 000748. The Court approved payment of \$50K in fees and \$3,031.97 in costs.

⁷² RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062, Article 11.1 (Emphasis added).

⁷³ RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062 Article 12.

from the CFT, and therefore ALB, Ltd. should be entitled to rely upon the representations of the Trustees for payment of their fees and costs.

The CFT further provides that, "The enumeration of certain powers of the Trustees shall not limit their general powers, subject always to the discharge of their fiduciary obligations, and being vested with and having all rights, powers and privileges which an absolute owner of the same property would have." The Trustee of the CFT is vested with all rights, powers, and privileges which an absolute owner of the same property would have, and therefore their decisions concerning that property should be absolute, and not subject to review by any third party, especially in the absence of any objection as to their exercised discretion.

In the absence of any allegations of fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence against either Reason or Utkin by the Appellants, the EJDC properly and temporarily lifted its injunction upon assets of the CFT to permit approved fees by Reason and Utkin to be properly paid to ALB, Ltd. Appellants had no legal standing upon which to appeal, because the acts of the Reason and Utkin were conclusively binding upon them.

The Appellants are requesting this Court to reach into the exercised discretion of Reason and Utkin, as successor Trustees of the CFT despite never having raised a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, willful misconduct, or

⁷⁴ RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062 Article 10.1, subsection (t).

gross negligence, and to effect the rights of a third party that, in good faith, relied upon representations of payment from both Reason and Utkin. The Appellants failed to ask or obtain a finding of fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence from the EJDC against Reason or Utkin, and now barred from doing so on appeal.

Furthermore, the Appellants failed to appeal the district court's orders on two prior hearings permanently removing the injunction upon Trust's assets; making their current appeal of the injunction moot. Neither of these orders were legally noticed to ALB, Ltd. and were unknown to ALB, Ltd., until after ALB, Ltd., filed its combined answering brief on appeal, and opening brief on cross appeal. The Trustee of the CFT is now free to make payment to the ALB, Ltd. under the discretionary approval provided by Reason and Utkin.

The Appellants do not have authority and have not been delegated any duties to prosecute claims on behalf of the CFT for an alleged violation of the CFT spendthrift provision. The Appellants have not raised a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence against Trustee Reason or Utkin regarding an alleged violation of the spendthrift clause by exercising their discretion to make payment to ALB, Ltd. And, the CFT doesn't

 $^{^{75}}$ See RESAPP IV: 000761 - 000766; See also RESAPP IV: 000769 - 000778 at Page 7:11-14.

⁷⁶ See Order Regarding Parties To Appeal dated October 23, 2019.

qualify Nancy for spendthrift protection under NRS 166.010 et seq. Releasing funds that were already contractually warranted and authorized by Reason and Utkin did not require an analysis under *Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank* and *Beattie v. Thomas*, because they were already approved by the Trustees.

ARGUMENT – ANSWERING BRIEF

I. In the absence of delegation of authority or the raising of a claim for breach

by Appellants regarding the exercised discretion by Trustees Reason and

Utkin, Appellants lack legal standing to raise claims against ALB, Ltd.

Nevada has a long history of requiring an actual justiciable controversy as a predicate to judicial relief. Moreover, litigated matters must present an existing controversy, not merely the prospect of a future problem. *Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986). The judiciable controversy lies, if at all, between the Appellants and the Trustees. The Appellants failed to raise claims against the Trustee pursuant the terms of the CFT, and now seek to improperly recover from ALB, Ltd. as a third-party payee of the Trustee's approved payment.

The CFT further provides that, "No person dealing with the Trustees shall be obligated to see to the application of any property paid or delivered to them or to inquire into the expediency or propriety of any transaction or the authority of the Trustees to enter into and consummate the same upon such terms as they may

deem advisable."⁷⁷ This provision simply expands the statutory relief and protection already provided to a third party dealing with a trustee. *See NRS 164.400-440*. ALB, Ltd. did not have an obligation to see that any CFT property paid to them was properly within the authority of the Trustees to be paid from the CFT, and therefore ALB, Ltd. is entitled to rely only upon the Trustees' representations for payment of their fees and costs.

Whenever it appears by suggestion of the parties or otherwise that the court lacks jurisdiction of the subject matter, the court shall dismiss the action." *See NRCP 12(h)(3)*. Legal standing is a jurisdictional issue that must be established in some appropriate matter and that the fundamental aspect of standing is that it focuses on the party seeking to get his or her complaint before the court – not on the issues the party wishes to have adjudicated. *Chiatello v. City and County of San Francisco*, 189 Cal. App. 4th 472 (Cal. App. 1st Dist. Oct. 21, 2010).

Whether a party has legal standing is a question that goes to the court's jurisdiction, and questions of jurisdiction can never be waived and may be raised at any time, even *sua sponte* by the court for the first time on appeal. See *Baldonado v. Wynn Las Vegas, LLC*, 124 Nev. 951, 964-65, 194 P.3d 96, 105 (2008). This is so because questions of jurisdiction go to whether the court has the fundamental power to grant the requested relief and enforce its own judgment. If the court has

⁷⁷ RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062 Article 12.

no power to grant relief—either because it lacks jurisdiction over the subject matter, an indispensable party is absent from the litigation, the dispute is moot or not yet ripe, or a party does not have the legal right to seek or receive the requested relief—then its ruling is legally void and not much more than a meaningless advisory opinion whether or not any party raised a timely objection below. See *State Indus. Ins. Sys. v. Sleeper*, 100 Nev. 267, 269, 679 P.2d 1273, 1274 (1984) ("There can be no dispute that lack of subject matter jurisdiction renders a judgment void."); See also *Wallace v. Smith*, 2018 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 106, *6-7, 2018 WL 1426396.

If Appellants had raised a claim of breach of fiduciary duty, then the EJDC lifting of the injunction would have potential furthered that breach. However, in the absence of such a claim, the Appellants have no legal standing to object to the EJDC order properly permitting the Trustee of the CFT to properly exercise his or her discretion to make payment to ALB, Ltd.

In the addition to the language of the CFT, NRS §164.025 deals with the interplay between creditors and trustees of a trust and the ability of a creditor to file suit if a claim is rejected.⁷⁸ Notably, there is no statutory language in NRS §164.025 allowing a beneficiary of the trust to approve or reject a creditor's claim – only a trustee. The terms of the CFT provides the guidelines of the case as to

78 NRS §164.025 (1)-(6).

which party who has the ability "to institute, compromise, and defend any actions and proceedings" It is the <u>Trustee</u> who has the power on behalf of the CFT to approve, reject or bring claims against a creditor of the CFT.

The Appellants have brought this appeal against ALB, Ltd. despite the fact that ALB, Ltd. did not have an obligation to determine that any CFT property paid to them was properly within the authority of the Trustees to be paid from the CFT.⁸⁰ The Appellants are not trustees of the CFT.⁸¹ The Appellants are simply beneficiaries of the CFT and were not authorized by Reason, Utkin, or Waid to bring this appeal on behalf of the CFT interfere with their discretion.

Although the Appellants may be interested parties to the CFT or entitled to notice, they are not authorized to commandeer the role of the Trustee without a corresponding claim that would suggest a breach of fiduciary duty. Reason and Utkin had the sole and absolute discretion under their fiduciary duty to assess the benefits and/or detriment to the CFT to pay ALB, Ltd.'s legal fees and costs, no the Appellants. Appellants cannot second-guess the Trustee's exercised discretion on appeal by naming payee ALB, Ltd. without first objecting to the Trustees' exercise of discretion as payor.

⁷⁹ RESAPP I: 000050, Article 10.1(i).

⁸⁰ RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062 Article 12.

⁸¹ RESAPP II: 000219 - 000220.

The Appellants are bound by the discretionary decisions of the prior successor Trustees, and their remedy lies, if at all, in a breach of fiduciary duty action for fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence against Reason and Utkin which they have failed to allege. Despite Waid's declination to voluntarily enter this appeal, he did not provide any fiduciary powers to prosecute claims or appeal against a third-party payee. Therefore, without the authority to act on behalf of the CFT, the Appellants' appeal should be dismissed for lack of legal standing.

II. Monte Reason and Jacqueline Utkin, as Trustees of the CFT, had absolute discretion in to make payment to a third-party and the Appellants are bound by their decisions.

The California Supreme Court has held that, "An absolute discretion, exercised in good faith by a trustee, cannot be controlled by a court on considerations going to the soundness of the discretion so exercised." *Estate of Ferrall*, 41 Cal. 2d 166, 173, 258 P.2d 1009, 1013 (1953); See also *Henry v. Official Comm. of Unsecured Creditors of Walldesign, Inc. (In re Walldesign, Inc.)*, 872 F.3d 954, 970 (9th Cir. 2017) (noting that trustees generally have "absolute or unlimited or uncontrolled discretion" over disbursement of trust funds). The Trustors provided that the Trustees of the CFT discharge their fiduciary obligations with a directive that the Trustees were vested with and had all rights, powers, and privileges which an absolute owner of the same property would

have." *RESAPP I: 000032 - 000062 Article 10.1, subsection (t)*. Without objection by the Appellant, the Trustees exercised this absolute discretion by approving payment to ALB, Ltd.

The parties are controlled by the terms of the CFT, and the Appellants do not have power to supplant the discretion granted by the Trustors of the CFT to the Trustees. See NRS § 163.023 (A trustee has the powers provided in the trust instrument,..., as necessary or appropriate to accomplish a purpose of the trust, but the court may not grant a power expressly prohibited by the trust instrument); See also In re Kragness, 58 B.R. 939, 942 (Bankr. D. Or. 1986) ("The intent of the testator must be carried out unless the objective is illegal or impossible. Court generally have no power to frustrate the testator's intent and substitute a different scheme."); See also Campbell v. Kawananakoa, 34 Haw. 333, 341 (1973) ("It has been so often judicially declared that the will of the testator is the law of the case that it has become a legal maxim.") If the Appellants disagreed with payment to any third party, their remedy lies is making a claim of fraud, willful misconduct, or gross negligence against a Trustee's exercise of discretion. The Appellants simply failed to make such a claim and are now bound by the Trustee's decision.

III. The Appeal is Moot Due the Permanent Removal of the Injunction by Two

Prior Orders Not Appealed by Appellants.

Furthermore, the injunction has been permanently removed by the EJDC by previous orders rendering the current appeal moot. See *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nev. v. Nevadans for Sound Gov't*, 120 Nev. 712, 720, 100 P.3d 179, 186 (2004) (recognizing that events subsequent to the district court's decision can render an appeal moot); See also *State v. Alvogen, Inc.*, Nos. 77100, 77365, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 1153, at *3 (Oct. 21, 2019). Due to the fact that the injunction has been permanently removed, there are no issues remaining to be resolved as to ALB, Ltd., as it is now free to petition the EJDC for the remainder of its attorney's fees and costs based upon the prior Trustees discretion to make payment upon Nancy's debt. Therefore, the current appeal is moot.

IV. <u>Contrary to the Appellants' representation, this Court found that no rule</u> <u>precludes ALB, Ltd. from participating in this Appeal</u>

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